FILED

DEC 06 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 89674-7

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 309029-III

MICHAEL HENNE,

Plaintiff/Respondent,



v.

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF YAKIMA, a Municipal Corporation,

Defendant/Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DEFENDANT CITY OF YAKIMA

SENT ON 12/06/13 VIA FAX FOR FILING IN COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III

ROBERT C. TENNEY, WSBA #9589
MARK W. WATSON, WSBA #14693
PETER M. RITCHIE, WSBA #41293
Attorneys for City of Yakima
Meyer, Fluegge & Tenney, P.S.
P.O. Box 22680
Yakima, WA 98907
(509) 575-8500

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Defendant City of Yakima (the "City") asks this Court to accept review of the decision terminating review designated in Part B.

# B. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision, Henne v. City of Yakima (No. 309029-III), filed on November 7, 2013. The Court of Appeals' decision found that the City had standing to bring a motion to strike allegations within Plaintiff's complaint under the anti-SLAPP statute, RCW 4.24.525, but dismissed the City's appeal as moot because the trial court subsequently allowed Plaintiff to amend his complaint to remove the offending claims. The Court of Appeals also stated that the failure to give a non-moving party notice of intent to file a motion to strike and a reasonable time to remove the offending allegations (absent prejudice to the moving party) would preclude relief under the statute. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages 1 through 24.

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Is the Court of Appeals' decision that a nonmoving party may avoid the effect of an anti-SLAPP motion by removing the offending allegations (thus rendering the motion moot) contrary to the provisions of RCW 4.24.525, which do not provide for avoidance by amendment?

- 1 -

- B. Is the Court of Appeals' decision that a nonmoving party may avoid the effect of an anti-SLAPP motion (i.e., "mooting") by removing the offending allegations contrary to the intent of RCW 4.24.525, which protects covered entities from the moment when an offending pleading is served?
- C. Is the Court of Appeals' decision that a nonmoving party may avoid the effect of an anti-SLAPP motion (i.e., "mooting") by removing the offending allegations contrary to the provisions and intent of RCW 4.24.525 when attorney's fees have been incurred in bringing the motion before an amendment is sought?
- D. Is the Court of Appeals' decision that a party filing a motion under RCW 4.24.525 must give the nonmoving party notice of intent to file the motion and an opportunity to remove the offending allegations (absent prejudice to the moving party) before such a motion may be filed contrary to the intent and provisions of the statute, which do not require such a notice procedure?
- E. As applied to municipal corporations such as the City, does the Court of Appeals' decision concerning "mooting" by amendment and giving notice/opportunity to the nonmoving party violate the separation of powers doctrine by usurping the exclusive right of the Legislature to adopt

statutory conditions defining under what circumstances claims may proceed against municipalities under RCW 4.24.525?

## D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Michael Henne ("Plaintiff") is a police officer with the Yakima Police Department ("YPD"). (CP 3). Between January, 2008 and February, 2011, the YPD investigated four reports of potential misconduct by Plaintiff within the scope of his employment as an YPD officer. These complaints included allegations of (1) rude conduct with other police officers. (2) dishonesty involving an alleged assault against Plaintiff, (3) a rule violation failure to broadcast emergency information about a suspect's location, and (4) a possible illegal search. (CP 83-102). Pursuant to the City's Rules, YPD Policy Manual, and policies, the YPD internally investigated all four reports. (CP 46-53, 58-79, 85-102, 106-109, 113-114, 117-120).

On November 4, 2011, Plaintiff filed a lawsuit against the City, alleging, in part, unlawful harassment and retaliation by other YPD officers. (CP 3-14). In his Complaint, Plaintiff alleged three causes of action based upon the internal investigation reports: (1) that he was unlawfully retaliated against by the City acting through its employees and agents; (2) that the City, "by and through its agents harassed and retaliated against Plaintiff by subjecting him to numerous unwarranted internal

investigations;" and (3) that the City, through its employees, failed to investigate and discipline Lt. Wentz. Officer Curtsinger, Capt. Schneider, Sgt. Seely, and Lt. Finch for their unprofessional behavior. (CP 6-12).

The City filed a special motion on December 30, 2011 to strike Plaintiff's claims relating to and derived from the four reports and resulting internal investigations pursuant to Washington's anti-SLAPP statute, RCW 4.24.525. (CP 15-32). The City argued the reports and resulting internal investigations involved "public participation and petition," as defined by RCW 4.24.525(2). (Id.). The City pointed out that Plaintiff specified no actionable legal basis for the alleged harassment and retaliation claims, and the City submitted abundant legal authority showing the absence of a legal basis for the allegations. (Id.).

It is important to note that the reports of alleged misconduct were generated by Plaintiff's fellow officers. (CP 83-102). The YPD then used the information from these reporting officers as a basis to initiate the internal investigations. (Id.). Plaintiff's claim against the City in part was to hold it liable for the acts of these reporting officers and for the resulting internal investigations. (CP 6-12). The City pointed out below that the reporting/investigating officers would be protected by the anti-SLAPP statute, and because the City is sought to be held liable for their conduct it is also protected by the statute. See Bradbury v. Superior Court, 49

Cal.App.4th 1108, 1112-1113, 57 Cal.Rptr.2d 207 (1996) (anti-SLAPP statute applies to municipality vicariously liable for acts of its employees during official investigation). (App. Br. 26-27).

On January 30, 2012, Plaintiff moved to amend the complaint to remove the offending allegations and to strike the City's motion as moot. (CP 126, 129, 131). He also attempted to avoid the motion by claiming he had never asserted claims of harassment and retaliation. (CP 129-130). Plaintiff submitted no evidentiary materials opposing the motion or legal authority in support of his theories. (CP 126-131). The City submitted a reply, pointing out that Plaintiff clearly had made allegations of harassment and retaliation related to the reports of misconduct and resulting internal investigations and that he could not avoid the motion to strike simply by amending the complaint. (CP 171-179).

The City's Special Motion to Strike was heard on March 9, 2012. (CP 363-381). The City argued that the anti-SLAPP statute protected local governments from actions based upon communications and proceedings in those local governments, *i.e.*, in this case reports of police misconduct and resulting internal investigations. (CP 363-381). Plaintiff countered that the statute does not apply to municipal entities. (Id.). The trial court denied the motion to strike and granted Plaintiff's motion to amend. (CP 358-362).

The City timely sought expedited review pursuant to RCW

- 5 -

4.24.525(5) on May 25, 2012. (CP 357). On November 7, 2013, the Court of Appeals filed its published decision. (Appendix at 1-9). The Court of Appeals properly held that the protections of the statute apply to the City. (Appendix at 7-8).

The Court of Appeals, however, then erroneously held that the City's appeal was moot because Plaintiff's "amended complaint supersedes the original complaint." (Appendix at 7). The Court of Appeals found that Plaintiff had a right to amend the complaint and remove the offending allegation while the anti-SLAPP motion was pending because "the motion to amend was filed before the City filed its answer and before the parties engaged in discovery . . . [and] [there is no showing of prejudice, dilatory practice, or undue delay." (Appendix at 6).

Significant to this Petition, the Court of Appeals went further and engrafted (without any basis or citation to legal authority and contrary to the plain language of the statute) on the anti-SLAPP statute a judicially imposed requirement that parties moving to strike under RCW 4.24.525 must first inform the nonmoving party of their intent and give the nonmoving party an opportunity to amend the complaint and remove the offending claims; only if the claims are not removed or if prejudice is shown by allowing an amendment, is a motion to strike proper:

There is no showing of prejudice, dilatory practice, or undue delay. A different situation might be presented if the City had notified Mr. Henne's counsel that the claims violated the anti-SLAPP statute, had warned that a motion would be filed if Mr. Henne did not voluntarily amend his complaint, had given him a reasonable amount of time to make that amendment and yet Mr. Henne had failed to take action—thereby making it necessary for the City to prepare a motion. Absent prejudice, dilatory practice, or undue delay, Officer Henne had a right to amend his complaint while the anti-SLAPP motion was pending.

(Appendix at 6-7) (emphasis added).

The City now seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision. The Court of Appeals incorrectly created a pre-motion notice and opportunity procedure and incorrectly dismissed the appeal as moot. The decision should be reversed on the issues of mootness and requiring a pre-motion notice procedure, and the case should be remanded for further proceedings consistent with the Opinion of this Court.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion if it "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Likewise, this Court may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion if it involves "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington." RAP 13.4(b)(3). The Rules of Appellate Procedure are intended to "be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the

decision of cases on the merits." RAP 1.2(a). See also State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577-78, 122 P.3d 903 (2005).

- 1. The Court of Appeals' Decision Allowing Avoidance of An Anti-SLAPP Motion through A Post-Motion Amendment and Imposing A Notice/Opportunity Procedure Raises A Significant Question of Law Involving A Substantial Public Interest
  - a. Persuasive California Cases Hold That Anti-SLAPP
    Protections Cannot Be Avoided through
    Amendment or Voluntary Dismissal

Enacted in 2010, RCW 4.24.525 has received scant attention from the Washington appellate courts. "But because California has a similar statute, California cases are persuasive authorities for interpreting the Washington statute." Longview v. Wallin, 174 Wn. App. 763, 776 n.11, 301 P.3d 45 (2013). See also Aronson v. Dog Eat Dog Films, Inc., 738 F.Supp.2d 1104, 1110 (W.D.Wash.2010) (citing "California law as persuasive authority for interpreting" RCW 4.24.525).

The Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to persuasive California case law holding a plaintiff may not avoid the effect of an anti-SLAPP motion by seeking to amend the complaint and voluntarily dismiss the offending allegations falling within the scope of the statute. The purpose of the anti-SLAPP statute is to provide an early, inexpensive, and expeditious motion procedure testing the evidentiary sufficiency of allegations involving protected conduct. Laws of 2010, ch. 118, § 1.

The statute makes no provision for amending pleadings, and to allow amendment would undermine the statute's purpose by disguising the vexatious nature of the suit "through more artful pleading" and by allowing an easy escape from the statute's protections (*i.e.*, protecting the moving party from delay, distraction and having its energy and resources drained and depleted by a "procedural quagmire"). Simmons v. Allstate, 92 Cal.App.4th 1068, 1073-1074, 112 Cal.Rptr.2d. 397 (2001); Sylmar Air Conditioning v. Pueblo Contracting Services Inc., 122 Cal.App.4th 1049, 1054-1056, 18 Cal.Rptr.3d 882 (2004) (anti-SLAPP motion not avoided where plaintiff filed amended complaint as of right three days before hearing); Navellier v. Sletten, 106 Cal.App.4th 763, 772-73, 131 Cal. Rptr.2d 201 (2003); Moore v. Liu, 69 Cal.App.4th 745, 751, 81 Cal.Rptr.2d 807 (1999) (voluntary dismissal of moving party prior to hearing on anti-SLAPP motion did not avoid liability for attorney's fees).

The City cited the California authority to the trial court and the Court of Appeals, and Plaintiff never provided any countervailing authority. (CP 171-181; App. Br. 17; Resp. Br. 1-15). Plaintiff merely argued that he should be allowed to amend the complaint in the absence of prejudice. (CP 127-129). But whether prejudice exists is not pertinent here. The issue is whether nonmoving parties can avoid the protections

provided by the anti-SLAPP statute by amendment after the motion to strike has been filed. The answer is clearly that they cannot.

Indeed, although the Court of Appeals below conceded that California cases are "persuasive authority for interpreting the Washington statute," (Appendix at 7), it completely disregarded the California authority precluding avoidance of anti-SLAPP motions through amendment or dismissal without comment or without citation to any authority supporting its conclusion that the amendment removed the City from the protections of the statute.

The issue of whether an anti-SLAPP motion may be avoided by a post motion amendment involves a significant question of law involving a substantial public interest that merits review.

b. The Washington Anti-SLAPP Statute Cannot Be
Avoided through Amendment or Dismissal and
Does Not Require Pre-Motion Notice

The State of Washington has a policy that favors swift adjudication of "SLAPP" claims brought against a governmental entity that involve "public participation and petition," such as those at issue here. That policy is enshrined in RCW 4.24.525. The Legislature intended RCW 4.24.525 as a means to provide an expedited, cost-effective, quick process for eliminating meritless claims that have the effect of chilling participation

and petition in government proceedings. Laws of 2010, ch. 118, § 1. The statute allows a defendant to file an expedited special motion to strike the offending claims. RCW 4.24.525(5)(a).

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with that policy and objective. The Court of Appeals reasons that notice to the nonmoving party and/or prejudice to the moving party is a pre-condition for a special motion to strike. There is absolutely nothing in the anti-SLAPP statute requiring that a nonmoving party first be given notice that the moving party intends to file a motion under the statute and be given an opportunity to withdraw the offending allegations by amendment (such amendment to be denied only if prejudice to the moving party is shown).

The anti-SLAPP statute makes no provision for pre-motion notice to provide an opportunity for amending the complaint (or a prejudice proviso precluding such an amendment), and there is no reason why such a right should be implied.<sup>2</sup> Washington courts "are not free to engraft . . . exception[s] to [a] statute where the plain language of the statute is to the contrary." Schilling v. Radio Holdings Inc., 136 Wn.2d 152, 165, 961 P.2d

The Legislature has directed that the anti-SLAPP statute "is to be applied and construed liberally to effectuate its general purpose of protecting participants in public controversies from an abusive use of the courts." Aronson, 738 F. Supp.2d at 1110.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Rather, the statute provides that the anti-SLAPP motion must be filed within 60 days of the date when the action is commenced RCW 4.24.525(5)(d). With such a short deadline, it is clear the Legislature did not intend a notice requirement.

371 (1998) (only the Legislature could create "inability to pay" exception to entitlement to double damages for "willful" failure to pay wages under RCW 49.52.070). The State knows how to establish notice pre-conditions for actions involving government entities. See, e.g., RCW Chapters 4.92, 4.96. RCW 4.24.525 contains no notice pre-conditions.

Furthermore, the purpose of the anti-SLAPP statute is undercut if a nonmoving party is allowed to assert offending claims, force the moving party to defend against them, and, if the moving party can afford the costs of moving to strike the claims, simply avoid the costs imposed by statute by amending the complaint at the eleventh hour. Indeed, the Court of Appeals' decision may have the opposite effect of actually encouraging such meritless claims, as some parties will lack either the knowledge or wherewithal to invoke the statutory procedure to challenge them with a timely motion to strike. This will result in a win-win for the nonmoving party: if the claims are challenged, they can be easily dismissed without financial consequence to the nonmoving party; if they are not, the moving party will have no choice but to incur the costs of defending against them. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision increases the potential for the abusive practices against which the statute was designed to protect.

In practice, the Court of Appeals' decision invites unnecessary litigation and conflicts with the important public interest in judicial

economy by quickly resolving meritless SLAPP claims at the beginning of lawsuits before substantial time and expense is incurred defending against those claims. This is consistent with the Legislature's objective to set up an expedited, "efficient, uniform, and comprehensive" mechanism through which claims "based on an action involving public participation and petition" can be evaluated and resolved at the beginning of the litigation. Laws of 2010, ch. 118, § 1.

The Court of Appeals' decision is completely inconsistent with that objective and policy. Allowing a SLAPP plaintiff leave to amend the complaint once the motion to strike has been filed (and when, as here, the plaintiff provides no evidence substantiating the claims) undermines the protections provided by the statute by allowing the plaintiff to avoid quick dismissal by mere artifice. As one court has stated,

Instead of having to show a probability of success on the merits, the SLAPP plaintiff would be able to go back to the drawing board with a second opportunity to disguise the vexatious nature of the suit through more artful pleading. This would trigger a second round of pleadings, a fresh motion to strike, and inevitably another request for leave to amend. This would totally frustrate the Legislature's objective of providing a quick and inexpensive method of unmasking and dismissing such suits.

Navellier, 106 Cal. App. 4th at 773.

Relatedly, the Court of Appeals' decision will waste judicial resources by having anti-SLAPP motions filed and noted for hearing, only

to be easily defeated by motions to amend. The public's interest is harmed when judicial resources are wasted, as they were in this case when the City (and the courts) was compelled to expend significant time, money, and energy in seeking to have the offending claims eliminated.

Finally, the "notice and opportunity" procedure the Court of Appeals created is unworkable and without guidance, especially when matched up against the requirement under RCW 4.24.525(5)(a) that a moving party must file the special motion to strike within 60 days from time of service of the complaint. The Court of Appeals provided no guidance whether the notice must be in writing or contain specific language. Likewise, it did not state when notice must be given relative to the date of service or how much time the nonmoving party has to respond. Absent a "clearly demarcated test," the Court of Appeals' requirement is unworkable. Schilling, 136 Wn.2d at 164 (court could not create "financial inability" to pay exception to wage statute). The lower court decision obfuscates an unambiguous statutory provision, and will lead to confusion and inconsistent results when trial courts try to apply the ruling.

In short, by misconstruing the statute and judicially engrafting a notice/opportunity to amend/absence of prejudice precondition, the decision of the Court of Appeals severely undermines the Legislature's objective and policy and is contrary to the statutory language. The public

has a substantial interest in the law protecting participation and petition in governmental proceedings. The City submits the decision of the Court of Appeals was arbitrary, contrary to the statutory language and intent of the Legislature, and merits review (and reversal) by this Court.

# 2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Involves A Significant Question of Law under the Constitution Because It Violates the Separation of Powers Doctrine

The decision of the Court of Appeals that a non-moving party be given a chance to withdraw an offending SLAPP allegation violates the established separation of powers doctrine by usurping the exclusive power of the Legislature to define under what circumstances claims may be brought against the State and municipalities.

The Washington State Constitution does not contain a formal separation of powers clause, but "the very division of our government into different branches has been presumed throughout our state's history to give rise to a vital separation of powers doctrine." Brown v. Owen, 165 Wn.2d 706, 718, 206 P.3d 310 (2009). "The doctrine of separation of powers divides power into three coequal branches of government: executive, legislative, and judicial." Waples v. Yi, 169 Wn.2d 152, 158, 234 P.3d 187 (2010). "If 'the activity of one branch threatens the independence or integrity or invades the prerogatives of another,' it

- 15 -

violates the separation of powers." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Moreno</u>, 147 Wn.2d 500, 505-06, 58 P.3d 265 (2002)).

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