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

D. ARGUMENT 

1. Plaintifrs Motion to Amend Complaint 

This Court should not grant review of the Court of Appeals' 

decision upholding Sgt. Henne's right to amend his complaint. The 

seminal issue raised by the City concerns the trial court's ruling with 

regard to Sgt. Henne's amendment to his complaint. However, the City 

has ignored CR 15(a), which allows'·!\ party [to) amend the party's 

pleading once as a matter of course at any time before a responsive 

pleading is ser\'ed." In this case, Sgt. Henne filed a motion to amend prior 

to the City's answer to his complaint. (CP 126-133, 141-170, 330-356). 

CR I 5(a) also states that if a party seeks leave of the court to amend 

"leave shall be freely gi\'en when justice so requires."' Under either 
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criteria, the trial court properly exercised its sound discretion in allowing 

the Plaintiffto amend his complaint. 

Sgt. Henne filed a complaint against the City of Yakima on 

November 4, 2011. (CP 3-14 ). The City appeared on November 9, 20 II, 

but it did not anS\\er the complaint. On December 30, 2011 it filed a 

motion to strike. (CP 15-37). Sgt. Henne moved to amend his complaint 

onJanuary30,2012.(CP 126-133,138-140, 141-170).TheCitytinally 

answered Sgt. Henne's complaint on February 7, 2013. (CP 297-305). 

Unlike another Yakima case, Bassani v. Sutton. I 0-35482 (9th Cir. 

2011) where the court found that there would be undue delay and 

prejudice to the defendants if Bassani was allowed to amend his complaint 

"two years into litigation and after the close of discovery," in the instant 

case the defendant had not yet filed an answer when the Plaintiff moved to 

amend his complaint andJJ.Q disco\'ery had occurred. 

As the Court of Appeals stated in I lines v. Todd Pacific Shipyards 

Corp., 127 Wn.App. 356,373-374 (Wash.App. Div. I 2005), 

The amendment of pleadings is left to the 
sound discretion of the trial court whose 
determination will be overturned on review 
only for an abuse of that discretion. Herron 
v. Tribune Pub. Co., 108 Wash.2d 162, 165, 
736 P.2d 249 (1987). Discretion is abused if 
it is manifestly unreasonable, or exercised 
on untenable grounds. or for untenable 
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reasons. State ex rei. Carroll v. Junker, 79 
Wash.2d 12,26,482 P.2d 775 (1971). 

There was no abuse of discretion by the trial judge in granting the motion 

in compliance with the court rules. 

At a hearing on March 9, 2012, the trial judge, l-Ion. Blaine Gibson 

of the Yakima County Superior Court, allowed Sgt. Henne's amendment, 

with the acquiescence of the City's attorneY. (CP 140 -171, 363-382). 1 

Then, following his review of the written motion and response. a reading 

of the statute and hearing oral argument on the merits of the City's motion 

to strike, the trial judge denied the City's motion, which can be fairly 

characterized as the City's own SLAPP motion. 

The CR 15(a) issues presented in the City's Petition for Review are 

bewildering in light of the discussion between the court and the City's 

attorney at the time of the hearing on March 9. The trial court asked the 

City's attorney [Mark Watson] directly, "[D]oes the city oppose the 

motion to amend?" To which Mr. Watson responded "No, your Honor." 

(CP 363-382). After the City's attorney said the City did not oppose Sgt. 

Henne's motion to amend his complaint, the trial court granted the motion 

and then turned to the appropriateness of the City trying to use the anti-

SLAPP statute against one of its own employees. (CP 363-382). 

1 See Appendix (A 25-44) The Verbatim Report of Proceedings at the March 9, 2012 
hearing at page 2, lines 2-21. (CP 363-382). 
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Sgt. Henne's amendment to his complaint was simply a 

clarification of his concerns in filing the lawsuit against the City for its 

discriminatory acts and omissions. The City's answer to the original 

complaint was not filed until approximately four months after Sgt. 

Henne's complaint was served and after his motion to amend his 

complaint was filed. (CP 297-305) 

As noted above, the City did not oppose Sgt. Henne's motion to 

amend his Complaint, \.Yhich in any event \Yas permitted by CR 15(a). (CP 

363-382). In addition. the City not only failed to timely answer the 

original complaint, it failed to directly anS\Yer the motion to amend the 

complaint prior to the hearing on the motion to amend. The City's petition 

for review should be denied. 

2. Defendant's Motion to Strike 

This Court should review and consider the Court of Appeals' 

decision that a city is a "person" for purposes of Washington's anti-SLAPP 

(Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation) statute, RCW 4.24.525. 

After hearing oral argument on March 9. 2012, the trial court dismissed 

the City's motion to strike, based on the court's reading of RCW 4.24.525. 

Judge Gibson stated: 
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Well, having read through this, I look at the 
statute and I look at the purpose of the 
statute. It seems to me that if this statute can 
be used to recover penalties and attorney 
fees from an individual who's petitioning 
the government for redress of grievances, 
that's exactly the opposite of the purpose of 
the statute. So I am denying the city's 
motion.2 (CP 363-382). [Emphasis added] 

By way historic background, one of the first advocates of statutes 

to protect citizens from ''strategic lawsuits against public participation 

(SLAPP)"3 has defined a SLAPP as "a lawsuit that is intended to censor, 

intimidate, and silence critics by burdening them with the cost of a legal 

defense until they abandon their criticism or opposition.'' The first 

proponents of such laws were First Amendment advocates v;ho wished to 

eliminate the chilling effect of SL!\PP suits intended to spend critics of 

governmental action into silence. In other words, the anti-SLAPP lawsuits 

were originally intended to address abuses by governmental bodies 

seeking to silence their critics. 

In 1989, the Washington State Legislature passed RCW 4.24.500 

"Good faith communication to government agency." The Legislature 

stated: 

2 See Appendix (A 25-44) Ruling b) the Hon. Blaine G. Gibson ofthe Yakima County 
Superior Court in The Verbatim Report of Proceedings at the March 9, 2012 hearing at 
rage 12, line 3. (CP 363-382) 
· Nazanin Rafsanjani (Friday, April 02, 2010). "SLAPP Back: Transcript". ON THE 
MEDIA (onthemedia.org). WNYC (National Public Radio, PBS). Retrieved 2011-06-29. 
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Information provided by citizens concerning 
potential wrongdoing is vital to effective Jaw 
enforcement and the efficient operation of 
government. The legislature finds that the 
threat of a civil action for damages can act 
as a deterrent to citizens who wish to report 
information to federal. state, or local 
agencies. The costs of defending against 
such suits can be severely burdensome. The 
purpose of RCW 4.24.500 through 4.24.520 
is to protect individuals who make good
faith reports to appropriate governmental 
bodies. 

Then, in 2002, the Washington legislature passed RCW 4.24.51 0, 

which was further intended to address abuses by governmental bodies. 

The legislative intent was stated at follows: 

Strategic I awsu its against pub! ic 
participation. or SL\PP suits. in\'olve 
communications made to influence a 
government action or outcome which results 
in a civil complaint or counterclaim filed 
against individuals or organizations on a 
substantive issue of some public interest or 
social significance. SLAPP suits are 
designed to intimidate the exercise of First 
Amendment rights and rights under Article 
I, section 5 of the Washington state 
Constitution. 

Although Washington State adopted the first 
modern anti-SLAPP law in 1989, that law 
has. in practice, failed to set forth clear rules 
for early dismissal re\ iew. Since that time, 
the United States Supreme Court has made it 
clear that, as long as the petitioning is aimed 
at procuring favorable government action, 
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result, product, or outcome, it is protected 
and the case should be dismissed. Chapter 
232, Laws of 2002 amends Washington law 
to bring it in line with these court decisions 
which recognizes that the United States 
Constitution protects advocacy to 
government, regardless of content or 
motive, so long as it is designed to have 
some effect on government decision making. 

In 20 I 0, the legislature passed RCW 4.24.525, while preserving 

the earlier statutes which inform the meaning of RCW 4.24.525.4 The 

meanings of the terms used in this statute are well understood. The Public 

means the people. Public participation means participation in the public 

forum by the people. Go\-crnment, as defined by the statute means "a 

• When the legislature passed RCW 4.24.525 (Sec footnote 3) in 20 I 0. it stated its 
findings us follows: 
"(I) The legislature finds and declares that: 

(a) lLi~ concerned about lawsuits brought primaril; to chill the \alid exercise of the 
constitutional rights of freedom of spee_ch and petition for the redress of grievances; 

(b) Such lawsuits, called "Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation" or 
"SLAPPs," are typically dismissed as groundless or unconstitutional, but often not before 
the defendants are put to great expense, harassment, and interruption of their productive 
activities; 

(c) The costs associated with defending such suits can deter individuals and entities 
from full; exercising their constitutional rights to petition the government and to spea_k 
gut on public i>sues; 

(d) It is in the public interest for citizens to participate in matters of public concern 
and provide information to public entities and other citizens on public issues that affect 
them without fear of reprisal through abuse of the judicial process; and 

(e) An expedited judicial review would avoid the potential for abuse in these cases. 
(2) The purposes of this act are to: 

(a) Strike a halance het\\een the rights of persons to file lall'suits and to tri:1l by jury 
and the rights of persons to participate in matters of public concern; 

(b) Establish an efficient, uniform, and comprehensive method for speed) adjudication 
of strategic lawsuits against public participation; and 

(c) Provide for attorneys' fees, costs, and additional relief where appropriate." 
[Emphasis added) 
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branch, department, agency, instrumentality, official, employee, agent, or 

other person acting under color of law of the United States, a state, or 

subdivision of a state or other public authority." 

There was no need for the Washington State Legislature to 

specifically define "Government" in such detail. if city governments were 

to be subsumed within the term "People.'' 

If there was e\·cr any question about whether the City of Yakima is 

a "Government," pursuant to RCW 4.24.525(1)(b), \·ersus a "Person," 

pursuant to RCW 4.24.525(e), it can be laid to rest by the letter in this 

court's file sent by Ronald R. Carpenter, Supreme Court Clerk, when he 

wrote on December 19, 201 3, "It is noted that the $200 filing fee 

accompanied the petition. Pursuant to RCW 2.32.070. no fee shall be 

required to he advanced by the state or any municipal corporation. 

Accordingly, Petitioner's check #061 579, is being returned as in enclosure 

hereto."(.\ 45-46). 

As noted above, the first Washington anti-SLAPP statutes were 

augmented b) RCW 4.24.525. As 'v'ith the earlier statute, this statute was 

enacted by the Washington legislature because of its continuing concern 

regarding lawsuits brought by e.g. governmental agencies intending to 

chill the valid exercise of the constitutional rights of freedom of speech 

and petition for the redress of grievances. The on!) twist in this lawsuit is 
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that the defendant is a governmental body attempting to assert a SLAPP 

motion in its effort to stifle the First Amendment rights of a plaintiff 

employee seeking redress. 5 

It is understood that the legislature enacted Washington's anti-

SLAPP statute to prevent a chill on the valid exercise of constitutional free 

speech rights brought about by lawsuits. To emphasize the point, the 

legislature found that "[ijt is in the public interest for citizens to participate 

in matters of public concern and provide information" on public issues that 

affect them "without fear of reprisal through abuse of the judicial process." 

To serve that purpose, the law provides, in relevant part, that "[a] 

party may bring a special motion to strike any claim that is based on an 

action involving public participation" as defined in the statute. An action 

involving public participation includes "[a]ny ... written statement. .. in a 

place open to the public or a public forum in connection with an issue of 

public concern" and "other lawful conduct in furtherance of the exercise of 

5 The First Amendment to the United States Constitution states: 
Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or prohibiting the 
free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of 
the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a redress of 
grievances. 

Article I Sections 4 and 5 of the Declaration of Rights to the Washington State 
Constitution state: The right of petition and of the people peaceably to assemble for the 
common good shall never be abridged. Every perSO]l_JTI_ay freely speak,_write and publish 
9.D__E_U_subjects, being responsible for the abuse of that right. [Emphasis added] 
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the constitutional right of free speech in connection with an issue of public 

concern." It is Sgt. Henne, not the City, who is attempting to exercise his 

Constitutional rights. 

Reliance on California case law is unnecessary in order to 

understand the intent and meaning of this statute. The court in Akrie v. 

Grant, 68345-4-I, 69300-0-I (Wa.App. Di\'. I, 2013) stated: 

We have never before interpreted RCW 
4.24.525(6)(a). Nonetheless, the language of 
the statute is plain and unambiguous. "In the 
absence of a specific statutory definition, 
words in a statute are gi\'en their common 
law or ordinary meaning." State v. Chester, 
133 Wn.2d 15, 22, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997); 
accord Hunter v. Univ. of_~ash .. 101 
Wn.App. 283, 290-91, 2 P.3d I 022 (2000). 
[Emphasis added] 

In other words, "Go\'ernment" means government and "People" 

means people. 

With this in mind. the primary question the court must address is: 

Whether, pursuant to RCW 4.24_,)25(4). the City properly brought a 

special motion to strike Sgt. Henoe's claims. 

His claims are based on actions involving public participation and 

petition, as defined in subsection (2) of RC\\' 4.24.525. If this court 

determines that the City's motion was not properly brought, for the sake of 

the citizens of Washington State, the City's position regarding the use of 
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the anti-SLAPP statutes should be soundly rejected. This court should 

seize this oppotiunity to clarify the law and clearly hold that the rights of 

the citizens of Washington State to engage in public participation and 

petition will be protected by the anti-SLAPP statute and that the statute 

may not be used or abused by go,·ernmcntal bodies to stifle the legitimate 

exercise of citizens' Constitutional rights. 

In other words, the anti-SLAPP statute should not be turned on its 

head by allowing the City to sue an aggrieved employee who is simply 

seeking redress through the courts. The statute, as abused by the City, is 

not properly applicable to Sgt. Henne. The City's attempt to apply the 

statute to this case is without merit. either factually or legally. As Judge 

Gibson said at page 10, line 20 of The Verbatim Report of Proceedings, 

"When 1 looked ar this, it jus! didn't pass the smell res!. What the city is 

trying to do is exactly what !he anti SLAP? statues were designed to 

prevenr, that it's the moneyed imerest trying to squash the little person 

who is lr)'ing to seek sume kind of're!ie((i·om the government." (A 25-

44)(CP 363-382). 

F. CONCLUSION 

Respondent/Plaintiff Sgt. Henne respectfully asks that this Court 

uphold the trial court's ruling granting Sgt. Henne's motion to amend the 

complaint and dismiss the Petitioner/Defendant City's motion to strike 
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pursuant to RCW 4.24.525. Respondent/Plaintiff Sgt. Henne also